
CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

HERITAGE PROPERTY & CASUALTY 
INSURANCE COMPANY, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
v.       Case Number: 25-CA-002113 
       Division D 
JORDAN LEE, 
 
 Defendant. 
__________________________________/ 
 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

 Plaintiff Heritage Property & Casualty Insurance Company (“Plaintiff”) brings this action 

against Defendant Jordan Lee (“Defendant”) for fraud, constructive fraud, fraudulent 

misrepresentation, tortious interference, defamation, and defamation by implication and alleges as 

follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. When Defendant, an independent adjuster, saw Hurricane Ian approaching 

Florida’s southwest coast, he seized an opportunity to write large claim estimates and get 

generously compensated after the devastation. Defendant traveled from Texas to Florida in hopes 

of high pay. When preparing claim estimates for Plaintiff, Defendant fraudulently manipulated 

them to maximize his commission-based payout. When his misconduct was uncovered and his 

estimates were corrected, Defendant did not receive the compensation he expected. Consequently, 

Defendant returned to Texas and began falsely and publicly alleging that Plaintiff intentionally 

reduced his estimates to avoid payment to its insured. 
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2. Plaintiff, like other insurance companies confronted with a large volume of claims 

after a hurricane, relies on outsourced independent adjusters, like Defendant, to document claims 

honestly and accurately so that its insured receive timely claim resolution and payment. 

3. But Defendant exploited the system. In the forty-two claim estimates Defendant 

prepared for Plaintiff, Defendant fraudulently inflated them to maximize his own payment, which 

was based on a percentage scaled to the claim amount. The higher the claim, the higher his pay. 

4. Apparently, Defendant thought he could take advantage of this catastrophic event 

and write estimates without justification at Plaintiff’s expense. In preparing the forty-two estimates 

for Plaintiff, Defendant inflated them by violating guidelines, defaulting to replacement instead of 

repair for virtually all damage, far exceeding the scope and amount of coverage under applicable 

policies, ordering upgraded and excessive material, failing to properly document damage, and 

intentionally increasing pricing in a variety of ways. 

5. After a third-party administrator firm discovered Defendant’s unscrupulous 

conduct, it expended significant time correcting them to ensure the estimates were supported by 

the insured’s coverage, policy limits, and actual damage. 

6. When Defendant learned that his estimates had been adjusted for accuracy and 

compliance, Defendant went to the media to publicly accuse Plaintiff of fraud in a series of 

defamatory false statements under the guise of concern for the insured. Defendant, however, failed 

to mention that the discrepancy between his estimates and the final payout to them was due to his 

own fraud.   

7. Plaintiff has been publicly and wrongfully criminalized in multiple news stories 

where Defendant made false and defamatory statements about Plaintiff, including in The 

Washington Post and in a widely publicized 60 Minutes episode. Immediately after The 
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Washington Post article, Plaintiff’s market capitalization decreased by $8,178,800.32. 

Immediately after the 60 Minutes episode, Plaintiff’s market capitalization dropped by 

$100,337,327.46. As a result of Defendant’s false and defamatory statements, Plaintiff expended 

significant resources mitigating the continuing harm caused by Defendant.   

8. Plaintiff seeks damages arising from Defendant’s fraud, constructive fraud, 

fraudulent misrepresentation, tortious interference, defamation, and defamation by implication. 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

9. Plaintiff is an insurance company that offers home, condo, rental property, and 

commercial residential insurance. Its principal place of business is in Tampa, Florida. 

10. Defendant is a natural person domiciled in Texas. He is an independent adjuster 

licensed in Texas who traveled to Florida to prepare damage estimate reports on behalf of Plaintiff 

following Hurricane Ian. To do so, he held a nonresident independent adjuster’s license in Florida. 

11. This is an action for damages in excess of $50,000.00, exclusive of interest, costs, 

and attorneys’ fees. 

12. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 

26.012, Florida Statutes. 

13. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because he (a) operated 

business or business venture in this state; (b) committed tortious acts in this state; and (c) engaged 

in substantial activity in this state. See § 48.193, Fla. Stat. 

14. Defendant’s defamatory statements were, among other things, directed at Florida 

residents, published and/or broadcast in Florida, and Florida residents viewed, read, and/or 

downloaded the defamatory statements while in Florida, resulting in harm in Florida. 
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15. Venue is proper in Hillsborough County, Florida, pursuant to Section 47.011, 

Florida Statutes, because Plaintiff’s causes of action accrued in Hillsborough County, Florida. 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 
 

A. Consistent with standard practice in the insurance industry, Plaintiff relies on 
independent adjusters to prepare claim estimates on its behalf. 
 
16. Insurance companies must meet certain statutory requirements for claim 

processing, including time constraints on investigating claims. 

17. When an insurance company anticipates a high volume of claims, such as when 

there is a catastrophic event like a hurricane, it is customary in the industry for insurance 

companies to rely on third-party administrator firms (“TPAs”) to help manage claims, which 

includes retaining independent adjusters to inspect insured properties and prepare claim estimates. 

This helps insurance companies process claims more efficiently and rapidly. 

18. Independent adjusters are licensed professionals subject to a code of ethics. When 

independent adjusters prepare claim estimates, they do so on behalf of the insurer. 

19. Before going to the insured property, independent adjusters are generally provided 

with, among other things, a Declarations (“Dec”) Page, which summarizes the coverage, limits 

and deductibles, and the effective dates of the applicable insurance policy. Independent adjusters 

are expected to review the applicable Dec Page before inspecting a property and prepare estimates 

within its bounds. 

20. An independent adjuster inspects the property and prepares a report with an 

estimated value of the claim, supported by detailed photographs, notes, and an itemized list of the 

damage repairs. The damage must be properly documented, and photographs must be clearly 

labeled by room or location within the property to support the line items in the estimate. 

4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 4



5 
 

21. Additionally, independent adjusters must know the applicable insurance carrier’s 

guidelines and comply with them. They are also expected to properly use the tools of their trade, 

such as moisture meters and ladders, and to correctly prepare their reports in the insurer’s 

estimating software, such as Xactimate and XactAnalysis.  

22. Independent adjusters prepare an estimate, not a promised payout. Each estimate 

states that “[t]he represented values within this estimate do not constitute a settlement of your 

claim” and “[n]o field adjuster or appraiser has the authority to authorize or guarantee payment by 

the carrier for your claim.”  

23. Each estimate further provides:  

Pursuant to s. 817.234, Florida Statutes, any person who, with the 
intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer or insured, prepares, 
presents, or causes to be presented a proof of loss or estimate of cost 
or repair of damaged property in support of a claim under an 
insurance policy knowing that the proof of loss or estimate of claim 
or repairs contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information 
concerning any fact or thing material to the claim commits a felony 
of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, 
or s. 775.084, Florida Statutes. 
 

24. TPAs provide quality assurance on independent adjusters’ work. TPAs will review 

an independent adjuster’s report and collaborate on the claim with the independent adjuster before 

it gets submitted to the insurance carrier. By collaborating, the TPAs and independent adjusters 

work together to gather information, assess damages, and make an estimate as accurate as possible 

before sending the estimate to the insurer to settle the claim. 

25. Independent adjusters get paid a percentage of the claim amount. 

26. Ultimately, the insurance company has final authority on all coverage decisions and 

final amounts paid to the insured. 
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B. Plaintiff needed additional independent adjusters in response to an influx of Hurricane 
Ian claims. 
 
27. When news broke that Hurricane Ian was heading to southwest Florida, Plaintiff 

prepared for a large influx of insurance claims. 

28. Plaintiff estimated it would need approximately fifty independent adjusters for an 

anticipated 2,500 claims. This estimate proved accurate. 

29. Plaintiff relied on TPA firm Tristar Claims Solutions (“Tristar”) to engage 

independent adjusters. 

30. Tristar engaged independent adjusters, including from other states, to assist with 

the voluminous claims following the catastrophe. Because multiple insurance carriers need to 

fulfill this need simultaneously, hiring independent adjusters can be a competitive process. 

31. Plaintiff paid Tristar and independent adjusters based on a fee schedule in relation 

to the claim value. A “CAT fee schedule” refers to the payment structure used for independent 

adjusters handling catastrophic claims, such as Hurricane Ian, where they are paid a percentage of 

the total claim amount per claim settled.  On the other hand, a “Daily Fee” is a fixed amount an 

adjuster earns for each day they work, regardless of the number of claims handled, and is typically 

used for smaller, more routine claims. Consistent with industry standards, for Hurricane Ian claims, 

independent adjusters received 65% of the fee schedule, and Tristar received 35% of the fee 

schedule. The applicable fee schedule is as follows:  
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32. For a catastrophic claim with a payable amount of $100,000.00, an independent 

adjuster would receive $1,915.00 (65% of $3,000.00, less a $35 administrative fee), and Tristar 

would receive $1,050.00 (35% of $3,000.00). However, for a claim valued at $750,000.00, an 

independent adjuster would receive $8,252.50 (65% of $12,750.00, less a $35 administrative fee), 

and Tristar would receive $4,462.50 (35% of $12,750.00). 

C. Defendant came to Florida for a pay day in the aftermath of Hurricane Ian. 
 
33. On September 28, 2022, Hurricane Ian made landfall near Cayo Costa, Florida, 

impacting southwestern Florida, including Lee County, Florida, and surrounding areas. 

34. Tristar began hiring independent adjusters before the hurricane hit but still needed 

to hire a few more to adequately respond to Plaintiff’s claims.  

35. Defendant learned that Tristar was searching for independent adjusters for Plaintiff. 

Tristar communicated with Defendant via text message on or about September 28, 2022, and hired 

Defendant and two of his friends, who were also independent adjusters, on or about September 29, 

2022. Defendant and his two friends relocated to Florida where they shared a living space to 

minimize costs and maximize profits. 
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36. Before sending adjusters into the field, Tristar emailed its independent adjusters, 

including Defendant, at least thirty documents with relevant information, including required 

guidelines. Tristar also held an orientation meeting and conference calls with independent 

adjusters, including Defendant. 

D. Defendant fraudulently inflated his estimates to increase his own pay. 
 
37. While estimating Hurricane Ian claims for Plaintiff, Defendant wrote at least forty-

two estimate reports in or around October of 2022. 

38. During that time, Defendant periodically communicated with the Tristar Director 

of Claims via text message until October 5, 2022, when Defendant ceased communication for 

approximately ten days. 

39. Plaintiff’s guidelines provide that independent adjuster reports should be submitted 

within forty-two -eight hours of inspection. It is best practice for independent adjusters to submit 

reports immediately following inspections to efficiently facilitate claim processing. If there were 

four inspections in a day, there should be four reports submitted that same day. However, 

Defendant submitted reports in large clusters between October 15 and October 18, 2022. 

40. On or about October 17, 2022, Tristar began identifying significant issues with 

Defendants’ reports, including his use of drones to inspect roof damage. 

41. Any drone usage required Plaintiff’s approval. Tristar not only advised independent 

adjusters hired for Hurricane Ian claims of Plaintiff’s general policy against drone use, but also 

advised that such use risked violating state and federal laws. 

42. It is common industry standard to expect “boots on roofs” for roof inspections to 

accurately assess damage and to properly document it with photographs. Independent adjusters are 

expected to bring a ladder with them when they inspect homes. This is particularly important given 
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that many roofs are covered with tarps immediately following a hurricane, which must be 

temporarily removed to assess the damage. However, Defendant did not remove the tarps. 

43. Defendant did not mount a single roof for inspection. Instead, Defendant relied 

exclusively on drones in direct violation of Plaintiff’s policy, Tristar’s instruction, and possibly 

federal and state law. 

44. It is impossible for drone photos alone to accurately capture the damage, especially 

when tarps are not removed. Knowing this, Defendant nonetheless relied exclusively on drones 

and defaulted to roof replacements instead of repairs without support. 

45. Tristar advised independent adjusters that if anyone had any safety concern 

regarding a roof inspection, they were to notify Tristar to resolve it. Defendant failed to contact 

Tristar with any such concerns. 

46. In addition to Defendant’s use of drones, Tristar identified other issues with 

Defendant’s roof inspections. 

47. Namely, Defendant failed to follow Plaintiff’s policy regarding tile roofs. These 

roofs are not common in other states, are extremely fragile, and require expertise for inspection. 

Recognizing this, Plaintiff implemented a policy that a tile roof suspected of needing replacement 

would first have to be inspected by an engineer. 

48. The independent adjusters were instructed to photograph tile roofs from a ladder. 

If an independent adjuster thought that the tile roof should be replaced, Plaintiff would send an 

engineer to inspect it to make that determination. In this catastrophic event, however, if a tile roof 

was considered an obvious total loss by an independent adjuster, they were directed to send 

detailed photos to Tristar because an engineer may not be needed to make the determination. 
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49. Despite these instructions, Defendant would typically estimate a full replacement 

for tile roofs. 

50. Defendant’s malfeasance was not limited to roof inspections. Defendant also failed 

to adequately document damage, including by improperly labeling and failing to include photos. 

For example, each interior room was labeled “interior” rather than specifying the exact location. 

Each proposed repair or replacement must be supported by photos and notes, otherwise it must be 

removed from the estimate because Plaintiff cannot pay for a repair or replacement that is not 

properly documented. 

51. Without supporting documentation, Defendant prepared estimates for replacement 

of all electrical outlets and switches, all electrical wiring, all drywall in ceilings and walls, all 

circuit breaker panels, and all HVAC ducts. Also, without supporting documentation, Defendant 

would order HVAC and plumbing inspections for no apparent reason.  

52. Defendant would include costs in his estimates to detach and reset meter masts, 

which is unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. Even worse, he would 

include this in his estimates when his photos reflected that the property was connected to 

underground power lines with no roof meter mast present. 

53. Defendant would also include notes in his estimate on what he thought the cause of 

the damage was. Because independent adjusters are not experts, this is improper and would 

necessitate deletion of this note from his estimates. 

54. Additionally, air movers and dehumidifiers are normally part of mitigation costs 

and are submitted to a mitigation contractor such as a remediation company. None of these costs 

should be included in any independent adjuster’s estimate. Defendant nonetheless included these 

costs without support. 
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55. Defendant also improperly included damage estimates outside the scope of 

homeowners’ policies, including for flood damage, which is excluded from a general homeowner’s 

policy because it would be covered under a separate flood insurance policy. 

56. Furthermore, Defendant inflated pricing in his estimates in several ways. 

57. First, Defendant increased labor pricing. He would change unskilled labor to skilled 

labor to inflate costs. For instance, he would change what should have been reported as demolition 

or “remove and replace” (unskilled labor) to “roofing” (skilled labor), tripling the price. 

58. Second, even when replacements were unnecessary, Defendant further raised costs 

by ordering upgraded and excess materials for replacements. There was no justification for such 

upgrades, which are generally left to the homeowner’s expense. He ordered high grade instead of 

standard grade or currently used materials for almost everything (e.g., granite windowsills when 

the residence currently had marble windowsills). He would also order excess of material—by feet, 

not inches. In at least one case, he ordered sliding door replacements for more doors than existed 

in the home. 

59. Third, and perhaps most blatant, Defendant inflated entire price lists for repair 

estimates by manually altering the claim database software’s pre-populated pricing for the 

applicable zip code to a different zip code with higher pricing by approximately 20% (e.g., from 

Sarasota County to Lee County where the hurricane made landfall). Defendant deliberately made 

this change. 

60. Locations most devastated by hurricanes experience surge pricing due to increased 

demand. 

61. In virtually all of Defendant’s reports, the assignment zip code was correct, but the 

price list used was from a different zip code with higher costs. Defendant had absolutely no 
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legitimate reason to use these price lists, and Tristar did not encounter this problem with any other 

independent adjuster’s reports. 

62. This discrepancy could only have been created manually and with a high level of 

expertise in the program. It does not happen by accident as it is a multi-step process. To make such 

a change, the software even prompts the question, “reprice estimate?” Defendant proceeded to 

reprice his estimates. A copy of screenshots of the steps Defendant would take to deliberately 

reprice his estimates is attached as Exhibit A. 

63. Defendant was Level 1-2-3 Xactimate Certified and represented himself as a 

Subject Matter Expert. This certification means an individual passed all three levels of Xactimate 

user certification, demonstrating a progressive increase in proficiency with the Xactimate 

estimating software. Defendant used his certification of expertise in Xactimate and XactAnalysis 

software to fraudulently inflate his estimates. 

64. By adjusting the zip code in the software, Defendant significantly increased his 

total estimates. 

65. Though higher claim values would have benefited Tristar as well, Tristar identified 

Defendant’s estimates as unethical and ultimately made significant corrections to lower the value 

of the claims. 

66. There was no simple fix for Defendant’s misconduct. The Tristar Director of 

Claims was obligated to correct Defendant’s estimates to the extent possible to get the claim 

processed.  

67. As part of the collaboration process used in the insurance industry, the Tristar 

Director of Claims attempted to contact Defendant to resolve these concerns. 

4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 12



13 
 

68. On or about October 17, 2022, the Tristar Director of Claims urgently asked 

Defendant to call him to address the issues he identified in Defendant’s reports. The Tristar 

Director of Claims was eventually able to speak with Defendant on the phone to provide an 

opportunity to correct the issues with his reports; however, Defendant refused and informed Tristar 

he was returning to Texas. 

69. The Tristar Director of Claims spent hours reviewing, analyzing, and correcting 

each of Defendant’s reports and supporting documentation. Tristar alone spent a significant 

amount of time attempting to correct Defendant’s fraud to the extent possible before sending the 

estimates to Plaintiff. 

70. Because of Defendant’s malfeasance, the values of Defendant’s claim estimates 

were significantly reduced. 

71. As described per claim below, Defendant engaged in fraudulent misconduct and 

made false statements and omissions in preparing his estimates.  

Amelia Lyle (Claim # H100991) 

72. On or about September 30, 2022, Amelia Lyle contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at her residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

73. On or about October 6, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

74. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated property damage 

from Hurricane Ian at $22,619.63. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities and 

deceptive omissions, as discussed below. 

75. Defendant also included an estimate of $2,027.76 for awnings and patio covers 

even though he knew or should have known that enclosures were excluded under the policy. 
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76. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

deliberately changed the pricing to Fort Myers, Florida (Lee County), to reflect the increased costs 

where Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant 

inflated the costs in his estimate. 

77. Defendant intentionally violated Plaintiff’s guidelines by using a drone to inspect 

the roof. He failed to provide the required shingle and pitch gauge photos. Consequently, the full 

extent of the roofing damage could not be substantiated. 

78. Defendant’s photographs generally failed to justify the expenses. For example, the 

photos of the “boy’s bedroom” did not support a complete replacement of all walls and ceilings.  

79. Defendant also failed to include photos to support replacing windowsills, electric 

outlets, and switches throughout the interior of the residence. 

80. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

81. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Nathan Carey (Claim #: H100861) 

82. On or about September 30, 2022, Nathan Carey contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane 

Ian. 
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83. On or about October 5, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

84. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $32,741.23. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and deceptive omissions, as discussed below. 

85. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

deliberately changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

86. Defendant estimated the replacement of the walls and ceilings in the garage and the 

“kid’s room” even though the photographs failed to justify these expenses. 

87. Defendant intentionally violated Plaintiff’s guidelines by using a drone to inspect 

the roof. 

88. Defendant included labor costs for inspecting the HVAC, pool plumbing, and 

electric despite providing no supporting documentation for these costs. 

Bruce Capsuto (Claim #: H101124) 

89. On or about September 30, 2022, Bruce Capsuto contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane 

Ian. 

90. On or about October 5, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 
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91. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $103,376.01. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and deceptive omissions, as discussed below. 

92. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

deliberately changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

93. Defendant also intentionally violated Plaintiff’s guidelines by using a drone to 

inspect the roof. Despite his drone photos showing no damage to the roof, Defendant estimated a 

complete roof replacement at $26,271.46. 

94. As to the removal and replacement of the gutter and soffit, Defendant intentionally 

estimated hundreds of additional linear feet above the perimeter of the home as well as the 

complete replacement of all fascia, which is excessive based on the photos. 

95. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

96. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast when no meter mast 

was even present. Regardless, this is unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

97. Despite a clear water line in the photos of the exterior of the residence indicating a 

flood, Defendant estimated complete replacements of flooring, walls, ceilings, and electrical due 

to flood damage. However, Defendant knew or should have known that flood damage was 

excluded from the homeowner’s policy, but he nevertheless included the damage in his estimate. 
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98. Lastly, Defendant estimated costs for an HVAC technician without supporting 

documentation and included costs for an air mover and dehumidifier even though the water 

intrusion was due to a flood. Regardless, Defendant knew or should have known that these costs 

are typically expensed to remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Daisy Rodriguez (Claim #: H100479) 

99. On or about September 30, 2022, Daisy Rodriguez contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at her residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane 

Ian. 

100. On or about October 4, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

101. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $48,458.11. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and deceptive omissions, as discussed below. 

102. Defendant intentionally violated Plaintiff’s guidelines by using a drone to inspect 

the roof. 

103. Despite no damage to the attic, Defendant intentionally estimated the replacement 

of insulation. He also deliberately included replacement of flooring, walls, and ceiling in several 

rooms without providing documentation of water damage.  

104. Defendant included the replacement of the main electrical panel and breakers 

without justification, and intentionally wrote the replacement of the metal awning and screen 

enclosure despite knowing they were excluded under the policy. 

105. Defendant estimated two clean window units even though he noted in his estimate 

that there is only one window in the room. 
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106. Defendant also estimated costs for an HVAC and pool pump inspections without 

supporting documentation. 

107. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Virginia Rapkin (Claim #: H101335) 
 

108. On or about September 30, 2022, Virginia Rapkin contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at her residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane 

Ian. 

109. On or about October 6, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

110. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $231,368.57. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and deceptive omissions, as discussed below. 

111. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

112. Next, sliding doors were intentionally added to the estimate for every room in a 

total amount of $9,874.24 regardless of whether they existed. As to Defendant’s other fraudulent 

misconduct, it is detailed per room below. 

113. Defendant included $15,107.11 for a porch roof despite their being no documented 

damage. 
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114. For the master bedroom, Defendant included: a complete replacement of the ceiling 

even though the photos only depict 64 square feet of damage; crown molding despite no crown 

molding in the master bedroom photos; a complete drywall replacement, yet the photos do not 

justify a full replacement; the unnecessary removal of a windowsill; and the complete replacement 

of doors, base boards, and flooring without supporting documentation. Defendant also included 

costs for water mitigation even though the photos do not support the need for mitigation. 

Regardless, Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

115. For the master bathroom, Defendant estimated the complete replacement of the 

entire room, including replacement of the ceiling, crown molding, walls, windows, doors, base 

board, flooring, electrical and other miscellaneous costs for water mitigation. The photos do not 

support the damage documented in the estimate.  

116. The same is true of the master closet and rear bedroom. Defendant included 

replacement of the ceiling, crown molding, walls, windows, doors, base board, flooring, electrical 

and other miscellaneous costs for water mitigation for both these rooms without supporting 

documentation. 

117. For the Jack & Jill bathroom, Defendant estimated replacement of the ceiling, 

crown molding, walls, windows, doors, base board, flooring, electrical and other miscellaneous 

costs for water mitigation. Not only is a complete replacement of the room excessive, but the 

damage in the photos is unrelated to Hurricane Ian. 

118. Defendant further estimated the complete replacement of the entire upstairs 

hallway. Defendant again included replacement of the ceiling, crown molding, walls, windows, 

doors, base board, flooring, electrical and other miscellaneous costs for water mitigation. 
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Specifically, Defendant estimated the detachment and replacement of a sliding patio door handle, 

but there is no photographic evidence of a sliding door in the upstairs hallway. The photos do not 

support the damage documented in the estimate. 

119. For the front bedroom, kitchen, dining room, entry/foyer, living, and back room, 

Defendant estimated the complete replacement of the entire room, including replacement of the 

ceiling, crown molding, walls, windows, doors, base board, flooring, electrical and other 

miscellaneous costs for water mitigation. Defendant also estimated one square foot of engineered 

wood flooring in the kitchen. However, the photos do not support the damage documented in the 

estimate. 

120. Defendant estimated a complete rebuild of the stairs. While the photos show a 

moisture stain on the ceiling, the photo do not support building a new staircase. Defendant included 

replacement of the ceiling, crown molding, walls, windows, doors, base board, flooring, electrical 

and other miscellaneous costs for water mitigation. 

121. Defendant estimated the complete replacement of the entire upstairs hallway, 

including replacement of the ceiling, crown molding, walls, windows, doors, base board, flooring, 

electrical and other miscellaneous costs for water mitigation without supporting documentation. 

122. Defendant estimated $9,867.57 to replace a fence and $5,122.80 to replace a 

concrete pad; however, Defendant does not include a photo showing the fence or concrete pad 

connected to the house, which is a prerequisite for coverage. This also did not appear to be related 

to the hurricane. 

123. Lastly, the labor estimated for the electrician and plumber have no supporting 

documentation, and the labor estimated to replace the wood floor covering and concrete is not only 

unsupported by the photos, but it is also unrelated to Hurricane Ian. 
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Andrew Vale (Claim #: H101558) 

124. On or about September 30, 2022, Andrew Vale contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at his residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

125. On or about October 7, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

126. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $38,948.77. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and deceptive omissions, as discussed below. 

127. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

128. Defendant also intentionally estimated hundreds of additional linear feet of gutter 

above the perimeter of the home and estimated the complete replacement of all fascia, which is 

excessive and unsupported based on the photos. 

Pavel Bratnichenko (Claim #: H100262) 

129. On or about September 30, 2022, Pavel Bratnichenko contacted Plaintiff to initiate 

a claim for property damage sustained at his residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane 

Ian. 

130. On or about October 7, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 
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131. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $49,634.17. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and deceptive omissions, as discussed below. 

132. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

133. When inspecting the exterior, Defendant used a drone rather than getting on the 

roof to inspect in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines. 

134. As to the interior, Defendant deliberately estimated the complete replacement and 

removal of all drywall, flooring, and doors in the entire residence. However, a review of the 

estimate shows that there are no photos depicting water damage. 

135. For each interior room, Defendant used the same forty-six line items that do not 

correlate with the photos of the loss.  

136. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

Anne Woodward (Claim #: H100899) 

137. On or about September 30, 2022, Anne Woodward contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at her residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane 

Ian. 
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138. On or about October 7, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

139. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $65,608.84. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

140. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

141. Not only did Defendant use a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s 

guidelines, but Defendant estimated a full roof replacement even though the photos attached to the 

estimate only show several missing shingles. 

142. Defendant estimated the removal and replacement of all drywall and electrical 

outlets and switches despite no supporting documentation. He also estimated the removal and 

replacement of one square foot of tile flooring in the interior of the residence without a single 

photo of tile flooring. In fact, Defendant intentionally omitted any photos of the “kid’s room” and 

only included one overview photo of the dining room despite including several line items on these 

rooms. 

143. Defendant also ordered hundreds more linear feet of gutter than the entire perimeter 

of the residence. 

144. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 
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instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

Sara Williams (Claim #: H99791) 

145. On or about September 30, 2022, Sara Williams contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at her residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane 

Ian. 

146. On or about October 7, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

147. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $9,203.13. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

148. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

149. Not only did Defendant use a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s 

guidelines, but photos show a tarp rather than the alleged damage under it. From these photos 

alone, Defendant estimated the roof repair and the resulting damage to the laundry room. 

150. Furthermore, Defendant also estimated the removal and replacement of all drywall, 

insulation, crown molding, electrical outlet and switches, and flooring in the laundry room where 

the one photo of the room reflects no damage. 
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151. Defendant also included costs for water mitigation even though the photos do not 

support the need for mitigation. Regardless, Defendant knew or should have known that these costs 

are typically expensed to remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Eric Oliver (Claim #: H101468) 

152. On or about September 30, 2022, Eric Oliver contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at his residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

153. On or about October 7, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

154. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $72,524.92. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

155. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

156. Not only did Defendant use a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s 

guidelines, but Defendant estimated the total replacement of the roof even though the photos show 

repairable damage. 

157. Defendant also included the replacement of gutters, soffit, and fascia that Defendant 

knew were unaffected by the roof damage and unsupported by photos. 

158. Specifically, Defendant estimated hundreds of linear feet of gutter replacement 

greater than the total perimeter of the residence. 
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159. Defendant also estimated the detachment, resetting, and remounting of the solar 

panels on the roof that are the responsibility of the manufacturer, not Plaintiff. 

160. Furthermore, Defendant included detaching and resetting the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

161. While the interior damage was noted to be isolated to the great room ceiling, 

Defendant included the removal and replacement of all drywall, flooring, and electrical outlets and 

switches in all interior rooms. 

162. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Carol Piltz (Claim #: H100933) 

163. On or about September 30, 2022, Carol Piltz contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at her residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

164. On or about October 5, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

165. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $37,401.55. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

166. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 
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167. In addition to intentionally modifying the pricing to inflate the amounts of his 

estimates, Defendant included full replacement of the walls, ceilings, flooring, baseboards, and 

electrical outlets and switches without any justification. 

168. The fence was included in the estimate, but there is no supporting documentation 

to confirm that it was attached to the dwelling as required. 

169. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

170. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast when no meter mast 

was even present. Regardless, this is unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

171. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Caleb Upton (Claim #: H101255) 

172. On or about September 30, 2022, Caleb Upton contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at his residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

173. On or about October 3, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

174. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $68,347.53. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 
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175. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

176. Defendant intentionally violated Plaintiff’s guidelines by using a drone to inspect 

the roof. Despite his drone photos showing repairable damage to the roof, Defendant estimated a 

complete roof replacement at $14,244.89. 

177. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

178. Defendant further included the replacement of all the soffit without any supporting 

documentation. 

179. Additionally, Defendant estimated the removal and replacement of all walls, 

ceilings, and electrical outlets and switches in the interior of the residence even though there was 

no evidence of water damage (or any other damage). 

180. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

Mike Morales (Claim #: H101678) 

181. On or about September 30, 2022, Mike Morales contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in North Port, Florida, following Hurricane 

Ian. 
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182. On or about October 8, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

183. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian to be $488,284.64. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

184. Despite the residence being in North Port, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

185. Without even removing the tarp to inspect the roof (with a drone or otherwise), 

Defendant estimated a full roof replacement at $222,752.41. He noted that roof tiles were blown 

off during the storm causing damage to the underlayment; however, his estimate did not include 

the alleged damage to the underlayment. 

186. As to the interior, Defendant estimated HVAC duct work, the complete removal 

and replacement of the walls, ceiling, carpentry, insulation, windows, ductwork, breaker panel, 

and electrical of every room even though nothing in his photos supported these costs. He also 

estimated one square foot of tile flooring per room despite no damage to the flooring evident from 

the photos. 

187. In each room of the interior, without support, Defendant also estimated the removal 

and replacement of electrical outlets and switches, detachment and replacement of each 

windowsill, and costs for HVAC technicians to check the air conditioning, a plumber to inspect 

the pool, and a carpenter to check the boat deck.  

4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 29



30 
 

188. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

189. Defendant estimated crown molding in the garage even though the photos do not 

show crown molding in the garage. 

190. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Michael Koster (Claim #: H101327) 

191. On or about September 30, 2022, Michael Koster contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Port Charlotte, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 

192. On or about October 8, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

193. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $12,049.48. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

194. Despite the residence being in Port Charlotte, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 
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195. Regarding the exterior, Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of 

Plaintiff’s guidelines. 

196. As to the interior, Defendant stated in his report that storm-related openings cannot 

be confirmed, but he nonetheless estimated the complete removal and replacement of walls, 

ceilings, and baseboards in the living room despite his photos only reflecting the need for certain 

repairs. 

197. Defendant also estimated the replacement of electrical outlets and switches without 

justification and included an air mover and dehumidifier even though these costs are typically 

expensed to remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

David Rine (Claim #: H100977) 

198. On or about September 30, 2022, David Rine contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at his residence in Port Charlotte, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

199. On or about October 17, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

200. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $204,256.36. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

201. Despite the residence being in Port Charlotte, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

202. Regarding the roof, Defendant used a drone to inspect it in violation of Plaintiff’s 

guidelines. Furthermore, Defendant wrote under his drone photos of the roof: “Roof has damage 
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to tiles. There are slipped tiles, tiles that are damaged due to chatter and tiles that are completely 

off the roof.” Yet, Defendant estimated a total replacement of the roof along with all the soffit, 

fascia, and gutters without justification. 

203. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof.  

204. Additionally, Defendant estimated the complete replacement of air conditioning 

duct work, attic insulation, and the electrical rewiring of the house (including breaker panel 

replacement) with no supporting documentation. 

205. Although the pool enclosure was excluded under the policy, Defendant 

nevertheless intentionally included this cost in his estimate. 

206. As to the interior, Defendant estimated the complete replacement of walls, ceilings, 

flooring, baseboards, electrical, and HVAC for each room even though the photos do not support 

such costs. 

207. Defendant included costs for an HVAC technician and a plumber despite no support 

for these costs. 

208. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Eva Gaglio (Claim #: H101369) 

209. On or about September 30, 2022, Eva Gaglio contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at her residence in Port Charlotte, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

210. On or about October 8, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 
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211. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $28,731.37. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

212. Despite the residence being in Port Charlotte, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

213. Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines. 

While the photos showed repairable and isolated damage to the roof, Defendant estimated a 

complete roof replacement in the amount of $28,731.37. 

214. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

215. As to the removal and replacement of the gutter, Defendant intentionally estimated 

hundreds of additional linear feet above the perimeter of the home to increase costs, and ultimately, 

his payout. 

Ronnie Abrams (Claim #: H101566) 

216. On or about September 30, 2022, Ronnie Abrams contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Port Charlotte, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 

217. On or about October 8, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 
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218. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $64,574.20. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

219. Despite the residence being in Port Charlotte, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

220. Defendant grossly inflated the estimate. Defendant included costs for removing and 

replacing drywall, ceilings, insulation, electrical, wiring, wall studs, flooring, windows, and 

HVAC in each interior room of the condo unit without justification. 

221. Specifically, Defendant included the replacement of the kitchen cabinets even 

though no damage is visible in the photos. 

222. Defendant also included higher grade items such as wood when the flooring is 

laminate in addition to higher-grade kitchen cabinets, windowsills, and carpeting. 

223.  Defendant also added costs for water mitigation even though the photos do not 

support the need for mitigation. Regardless, Defendant knew or should have known that these costs 

are typically expensed to remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Tony Florio (Claim #: H101650) 

224. On or about September 30, 2022, Tony Florio contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at his residence in Port Charlotte, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

225. On or about October 11, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 
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226. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $75,407.97. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

227. Despite the residence being in Port Charlotte, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

228. Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines. 

229. Each of the ten rooms in the interior of the house included the same line items in 

the estimate. Specifically, Defendant estimated that each room needed the entire removal and 

replacement of all walls, ceiling, flooring, and electrical.   

230. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

231. Defendant also included costs for water mitigation even though the photos do not 

support the need for mitigation. Regardless, Defendant knew or should have known that these costs 

are typically expensed to remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

David Bogard (Claim #: H101720) 

232. On or about September 30, 2022, David Bogard contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Port Charlotte, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 
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233. On or about October 6, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

234. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian to be $193,996.05. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

235. Despite the residence being in Port Charlotte, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

236. Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines. 

While the photos showed repairable slipped and cracked tiles and damage to some of the soffit, 

Defendant estimated a complete roof replacement in the amount of $67,975.33. Defendant noted 

in his estimate, “The roof is damaged beyond repair. The leading edge of the tiles are damaged, 

meaning they chattered during the heavy winds of Hurricane Ian. Because the tiles lifted up during 

the storm the underlayment has become damaged due to the lifting of the tile. The underlayment 

has been damaged to the extent of causing major leaks in the interior of the house. There is high 

moisture in the walls and ceiling of the home.” However, the photos demonstrate otherwise, and 

no photos demonstrate that the underlayment was damaged. 

237. The photos included in the report do not justify the complete replacement of the 

roof, and none of the twenty-two rooms show any water damage. 

238. While the photos show no water damage to the interior of the residence, Defendant 

estimated the complete removal and replacement of all the walls, ceilings, baseboards, and 

electrical in all rooms by repeating the same line items. 
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239. Furthermore, Defendant also included costs for water mitigation even though the 

photos do not support the need for mitigation. Regardless, Defendant knew or should have known 

that these costs are typically expensed to remediation companies who then submit their claim to 

Plaintiff. 

Janice Davies (Claim #: H101734) 

240. On or about September 30, 2022, Janice Davies contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Port Charlotte, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 

241. On or about October 8, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

242. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $81,291.83. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

243. Despite the residence being in Port Charlotte, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

244. Regarding the exterior of the property, Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof 

in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines and intentionally estimated hundreds of extra linear feet of 

gutters and soffit than the total perimeter of the residence. Moreover, the removal and replacement 

of all fascia is excessive based on the photos. 

245. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast when no meter mast 

was even present. Regardless, this is unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 
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246. On the interior, Defendant estimated the removal and replacement of the walls, 

ceilings, flooring, baseboards, and electric outlets and switches in the guest room even though 

there is no water damage depicted in the photos. 

247. Defendant also estimated labor for the inspection of the HVAC and for a plumber 

for the pool even though there is no documentation to support these inspections. 

248. There is also nothing in the photos to substantiate the need for an HVAC technician 

or plumber to inspect the pool. 

249. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Joseph Gentile (Claim #: H101637) 

250. On or about September 30, 2022, Joseph Gentile contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Port Charlotte, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 

251. On or about October 6, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

252. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $56,934.13. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

253. Despite the residence being in Port Charlotte, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 
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254. Defendant did not inspect the roof. Thus, any roof damage is unknown.  

255. Nevertheless, Defendant included detaching and resetting the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

256. While screen damage was noted on the pool enclosure, coverage for the screen was 

excluded under the policy, and there was no damage to the framing. 

257. Defendant also estimated a full replacement of the ceiling and electrical in the 

kitchen, living room, and patio without any documentation to substantiate the damage. 

Timothy Miniscalco (Claim #: H101719) 

258. On or about September 30, 2022, Timothy Miniscalco contacted Plaintiff to initiate 

a claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Port Charlotte, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 

259. On or about October 5, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

260. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $55,599.57. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

261. Despite the residence being in Port Charlotte, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

262. Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines. 

While damage to the roof was noted, Defendant also included in his estimate a full pool screen 

enclosure that was excluded under the policy. 
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263.   Water damage to the garage ceiling was noted in the photos; however, Defendant 

included the same macro list of items for each room of the interior despite the absence of water 

damage. In each interior room, Defendant estimated the removal and replacement of walls, 

ceilings, flooring, windows, and electrical.  

264. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

265. Defendant included costs for an HVAC technician and a plumber despite no 

photographic support for the costs. 

266. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Rochelle Lemmons (Claim #: H101572) 

267. On or about September 30, 2022, Rochelle Lemmons contacted Plaintiff to initiate 

a claim for property damage sustained at her residence in Port Charlotte, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 

268. On or about October 8, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

269. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $92,452.23. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 
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270. Despite the residence being in Port Charlotte, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

271. As to the exterior of the residence, not only did Defendant use a drone to inspect 

the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines, but he also overestimated the replacement of the 

gutter and soffit by hundreds of linear feet greater than the total perimeter of the residence. 

Additionally, Defendant estimated the removal and replacement of all fascia in the residence, 

which is excessive and not supported by the photos. The roof was able to be repaired and did not 

need to be replaced. 

272. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast when no meter mast 

was even present. Regardless, this is unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

273. Defendant estimated a complete HVAC duct replacement and the rewiring of the 

electrical, including a new breaker panel, even though the photos do not support these damages. 

Similarly, complete insulation replacement is also unjustified. 

274. While damage to the garage is documented, there is no other water damage noted 

to the interior.  

275. The attic was inspected, and no damage was noted. Yet, Defendant included in the 

estimate attic insulation, air conditioning ductwork, breaker panel, and rewiring the electric. 

276. Despite there being no documented damage inside the house except for the garage, 

Defendant estimated for the removal and replacement of walls, ceilings, flooring, baseboards, and 

electrical in each room. 

277. Defendant’s estimate for an HVAC technician is also not supported by the photos. 
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278. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

279. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known been aware that these costs are typically expensed 

to remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

William Schroeder (Claim #: H101460) 

280. On or about September 30, 2022, William Schroeder contacted Plaintiff to initiate 

a claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Rotonda West, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 

281. On or about October 8, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

282. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $106,529.98. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

283. Despite the residence being in Rotonda West, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

284. When estimating the exterior of the residence, Defendant used a drone in violation 

of Plaintiff’s guidelines. Furthermore, while some damage to the roof (which was partly covered 
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by a tarp), soffit, and fascia was documented, Defendant estimated a full replacement of the roof, 

soffit, fascia, and gutters without justification. 

285. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

286. Defendant also estimated the replacement of a dock that was not covered under the 

policy. 

287. On the interior, Defendant’s photos depict water stains on the ceilings of two rooms, 

yet Defendant estimated the same forty-six line items involving complete removal and replacement 

of walls, ceiling, crown molding, doors, windows, baseboards, and electrical for seven rooms. 

These costs are unjustified by the photos. 

288. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

289. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Mary Sebastian (Claim # H101666)  

290. On or about September 30, 2022, Mary Sebastian contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at her residence in Rotonda West, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian.  

291. On or about October 4, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff.  
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292. Following his inspection Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $199,359.83. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below.  

293. Despite the residence being in Rotonda West, Florida (Charlotte County) 

Defendant deliberately changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate.  

294. When estimating the exterior of the residence, Defendant used a drone in violation 

of Plaintiff’s guidelines.  

295. As to the removal and replacement of the gutter and soffit, Defendant intentionally 

estimated hundreds of additional linear feet above the perimeter of the home as well as the 

complete replacement of all fascia, which is excessive based on photos.  

296. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification.  

297. Defendant estimated costs for an HVAC technician without documentation to 

support this cost.  

298. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 
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Michael Kovonuk (Claim #: H101489) 

299. On or about September 30, 2022, Michael Kovonuk contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Rotonda West, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 

300. On or about October 9, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

301. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $240,901.41. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

302. Despite the residence being in Rotonda West, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

303. When estimating the exterior of the residence, Defendant used a drone in violation 

of Plaintiff’s guidelines. Furthermore, while some missing shingles were noted along with some 

damage to the soffit, fascia, and gutters, Defendant estimated a full roof replacement and estimated 

hundreds of additional linear feet above the perimeter of the home for soffit and gutter replacement. 

304. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof, and the photos do not support an 

HVAC duct replacement. 

305. Defendant estimated the electrical rewiring of the home, the removal and 

replacement of the breaker panel, and the complete replacement of the insulation in the residence; 

however, none of these costs are supported by the photos. 
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306. Defendant also estimated the replacement of the pool enclosure even though the 

policy only covers the frame. 

307. Throughout the interior of the residence and repeatedly using the same line items, 

Defendant has estimated the removal and replacement of walls, ceilings, flooring, baseboards, and 

electrical without any photographic support. Furthermore, the estimate indicates tile flooring while 

the photos show wood. 

308. Defendant estimated labor costs for the inspection of the HVAC and pool, yet the 

photos did not support this cost. 

309. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Patricia Cappellucci (Claim #: H101646) 

310. On or about September 30, 2022, Patricia Cappellucci contacted Plaintiff to initiate 

a claim for property damage sustained at her residence in Rotonda West, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 

311. On or about October 9, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

312. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $181,048.48. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

313. Despite the residence being in Rotonda West, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 
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Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

314. When estimating the exterior of the residence, Defendant used a drone in violation 

of Plaintiff’s guidelines. Furthermore, while some missing shingles were noted along with some 

damage to the soffit and fascia, Defendant improperly estimated a full roof replacement along with 

attic insulation, HVAC ductwork, and electrical rewiring, and the removal and replacement of the 

breaker panel. 

315. Without documenting some water damage to the interior, Defendant estimated the 

full removal and replacement of walls, ceiling, baseboards, windows, and electrical outlets and 

switches throughout the interior without justification. In fact, Defendant included costs for the 

cleaning of two window units (when he indicates there is only one window in the room) despite 

the “windows” being in an HVAC closet. 

316. Defendant also estimated the replacement of the pool enclosure even though the 

policy only covers the frame. 

317. Defendant also estimated labor for the inspection of the HVAC and for a plumber 

for the pool even though there is not documentation to support these inspections. 

318. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Tena Bishop (Claim #: H101707) 

319. On or about September 30, 2022, Tena Bishop contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at her residence in Rotonda West, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 
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320. On or about October 7, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

321. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $91,822.14. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

322. Despite the residence being in Rotonda West, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

323. When estimating the exterior of the residence, Defendant used a drone in violation 

of Plaintiff’s guidelines. Furthermore, Defendant estimated for the removal and replacement of 

gutters and soffit at hundreds of additional linear feet above the perimeter of the home and 

estimated the complete replacement of all fascia, which is excessive based on the photos. 

324. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

325. On the interior, Defendant only included four photos that show one water stain on 

the foyer ceiling. Despite this, Defendant estimated the complete removal and replacement of 

walls, ceiling, baseboards, flooring, windows, and electrical outlets and switches throughout the 

interior without justification. Defendant even included non-existent tile flooring in the garage. 

326. The estimate also included a full screen enclosure, which the policy does not cover, 

and there is no limited endorsement on this policy. 
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327. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Wayne Wakeham (Claim #: H101711) 

328. On or about September 30, 2022, Wayne Wakeham contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Rotonda West, Florida, following 

Hurricane Ian. 

329. On or about October 11, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

330. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $166,493.61. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

331. Despite the residence being in Rotonda West, Florida (Charlotte County), 

Defendant intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where 

Hurricane Ian made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the 

costs in his estimate. 

332. As to the exterior, Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof of the residence in 

violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines. 

333. While the interior photos show damage to living room and garage ceilings, 

Defendant estimated the complete removal and replacement of all walls, ceilings, flooring, 

windows, and electrical switches and outlets. This estimate is well more than the documented 

damages. 
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334. Without any supporting evidence, Defendant proposed to gut both sides of the 

duplex. 

335. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

336. Defendant also included tile flooring in the garage without justification. 

337. Defendant estimated costs for an HVAC technician without documentation 

showing the need for inspection. 

338. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Kathy Castle (Claim #: H101436) 

339. On or about September 30, 2022, Kathy Castle contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at her residence in Englewood, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

340. On or about October 5, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

341. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $124,009.37. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

342. Despite the residence being in Englewood, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 
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made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

343. When estimating the exterior of the residence, Defendant used a drone in violation 

of Plaintiff’s guidelines. Furthermore, while there was damage to the rolled roofing portion only 

along with the soffit and fascia, Defendant improperly estimated a full roof replacement along with 

attic insulation, HVAC ductwork, and electrical rewiring, and the removal and replacement of the 

breaker panel. 

344. Furthermore, Defendant estimated the removal and replacement of gutters and 

soffit at hundreds of additional linear feet above the perimeter of the home and estimated the 

complete replacement of all fascia, which is excessive based on the photos. 

345. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast when no meter mast 

was even present. Regardless, this is unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

346. As to the interior, Defendant included photos reflecting some water damage to the 

living room, kitchen, and garage ceilings only; however, he estimated the full removal and 

replacement of walls, ceiling, baseboards, windows, and electrical outlets and switches throughout 

the entire interior without justification.  

347. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

348. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 
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349. Defendant also estimated labor for the inspection of the HVAC technician even 

though there is no documentation to support it. 

Sharon Mays (Claim #: H99672) 

350. On or about September 30, 2022, Sharon Mays contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at her residence in Englewood, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

351. On or about October 7, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

352. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $177,490.17. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

353. Despite the residence being in Englewood, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

354. When estimating the exterior of the residence, Defendant used a drone in violation 

of Plaintiff’s guidelines. Photos showed some damage and a tarp; however, Defendant estimated 

the full replacement of the roof as well as the removal and replacement of gutters and soffit at 

hundreds of additional linear feet above the perimeter of the home. 

355. Defendant also estimated for replacement of the attic insulation, the HVAC duct 

system even though the photos do not support a complete replacement of the duct work and 

rewiring the home was unnecessary. 

356. While the interior photos interior revealed some water damage to the living room, 

Florida room, and master bedroom ceilings, Defendant estimated the complete removal and 
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replacement of walls, ceilings, flooring, baseboards, windows, and electrical switches and outlets 

throughout the entire interior. 

357. Defendant even included non-existent windows in the closet and estimated for the 

cleaning of two windows when he noted only one in his report. 

358. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Ronald Hennings (Claim #: H100851) 

359. On or about September 30, 2022, Ronald Hennings contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

360. On or about October 10, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

361. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $75,628.18. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

362. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

363. Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines, 

which showed some missing shingles and a tarp. However, Defendant estimated for the full 

replacement of the roof.  
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364. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast when no meter mast 

was even present. Regardless, this is unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

365. While the photos of the interior reflect staining on the ceiling in the great room, no 

additional damage was noted. Despite this, Defendant estimated the full replacement of the walls, 

ceiling, laminate flooring, baseboards, windows, and electrical outlets and switches throughout the 

interior without justification. Defendant also included this scope of work for the garage yet did not 

include any photos of this room. 

366. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

367. Defendant also estimated labor for the inspection of an HVAC technician even 

though there is no documentation to support it. 

368. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Daniel Van Sickle (Claim # HP215844)  

369. On or about September 30, 2022, Daniel Van Sickle contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

370. On or about October 5, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff.  
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371. Following his inspection Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $237,626.82. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and deceptive omissions, as discussed below.  

372. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

deliberately changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate.  

373. Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines.  

374. As to the removal and replacement of the gutter and soffit, Defendant intentionally 

estimated hundreds of additional linear feet above the perimeter of the home as well as the 

complete replacement of all fascia, which is excessive based on photos.  

375. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

376. Defendant estimated costs for an HVAC technician without supporting 

documentation. 

377. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Linda Bayard (Claim #: HP215742) 

378. On or about September 30, 2022, Linda Bayard contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at her residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 
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379. On or about October 10, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

380. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $42,348.96. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

381. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

382. Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines, 

which showed some missing tabs and a tarp. However, Defendant estimated for the full 

replacement of the roof without inspecting under the tarp. 

383. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof.  

384. Additionally, Defendant estimated for replacement of the gutters and soffit, yet the 

photos provide no justification. 

385. While Defendant’s photos show staining on the garage ceiling, Defendant 

estimated the complete replacement of the walls, ceiling, baseboards, window, and electrical 

outlets and switches.  

386. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 
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387. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Wiktoria Kotte (Claim #: H100819) 

388. On or about September 30, 2022, Wiktoria Kotte contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at her residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

389. On or about October 6, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

390. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $4,772.64. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

391. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

392. In doing so, Defendant increased the costs for electrician and plumbing technicians 

that were included in the estimate despite no documentation justifying the expense. 

393. Defendant also included in his estimate unsubstantiated costs for the soffit, fascia, 

and gutters. 

394. Despite the interior being excluded since there was no damage to the roof and no 

opening, Defendant nonetheless included in his estimate costs for the interior. 
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Loren Hutchinson (Claim #: H99902) 

395. On or about September 30, 2022, Loren Hutchinson contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at her residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

396. On or about October 5, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

397. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $84,448.60. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

398. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

399. Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines, 

which revealed some missing tabs and prior repairs along with damage to the soffit and fascia. 

However, Defendant estimated for the full replacement of the roof without inspecting under the 

tarp. 

400. Defendant also included detaching and resetting the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof.  

401. Defendant intentionally estimated for hundreds of extra linear feet of gutters 

beyond the total perimeter of the residence, ordered replacement of all soffit and fascia without 

justification, and estimated to remove and replace an undamaged enclosure. 

402. Even though the photos reflect water staining limited to the master bedroom ceiling, 

and without documenting the moisture levels inside the house, Defendant intentionally estimated 
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the removal and replacement/resetting of all walls, ceilings, flooring, baseboards, windows, and 

electrical outlets and switches throughout the interior and garage. Although no damage was 

observed in the attic during the inspection, Defendant estimated replacement of attic insulation. 

403. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

404. Defendant intentionally increased labor costs by including an HVAC technician 

even though the photos did not justify it and a plumber for a pool that was not photographed and 

did not appear when the house was searched on Google maps. 

405. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

James Drummond (Claim #: H101724) 

406. On or about September 30, 2022, James Drummond contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

407. On or about October 10, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

408. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $17,736.73. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

409. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 
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made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

410. The fence was included in the estimate, but there is no supporting documentation 

to confirm that it was attached to the dwelling as required. 

Kelly Toppin (Claim #: H101061) 

411. On or about September 30, 2022, Kelly Toppin contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at her residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

412. On or about October 6, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

413. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $131,858.56. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

414. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

415. Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines, 

which showed no evidence of damage to the roof, walls, or enclosure. Despite this, Defendant 

intentionally estimated the complete replacement of the roof at $53,932.46, which included “high 

roof” extra costs despite the residence being a single-story home. Defendant also estimated the 

detachment and resetting of the meter mast, which is unnecessary to complete repairs to or 

replacement of the roof. 
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416. While photos of the interior noted staining on the ceilings of various rooms, 

Defendant intentionally ignored the terms of the policy that require a documented storm created 

opening to be covered. Instead, Defendant estimated the complete removal and replacement of 

walls, ceilings, baseboards, and electrical outlets, switches, and fixtures throughout the interior. 

417. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

418. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Heidi Parrish (Claim #: H101429) 

419. On or about September 30, 2022, Heidi Parrish contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at her residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

420. On or about October 9, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

421. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $19,031.43. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

422. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 
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423. Defendant also used a drone to inspect the roof in violation of Plaintiff’s guidelines. 

424. Even though there was only limited documented damage to the exterior, Defendant 

intentionally estimated the complete removal and replacement of walls, ceilings, baseboards, and 

electrical outlets and switches in three separate interior rooms. Defendant also included the 

replacement of flooring in the guest room and living room. None of these expenses were justified. 

425. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

426. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

Richard Sucamele (Claim #: HP215865) 

427. On or about September 30, 2022, Richard Sucamele contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

428. On or about October 9, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

429. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $112,989.07. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional 

falsities and omissions, as discussed below. 

430. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 
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made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

431. Contrary to Plaintiff’s guidelines, Defendant used a drone to inspect the roof, which 

was covered by two large tarps, and therefore no damage can be substantiated. While the photos 

depict damage to the soffit, fascia, and gutters, Defendant intentionally estimated hundreds of 

additional linear feet of gutters and soffit above the perimeter of the home and estimated the 

complete replacement of all fascia, which is excessive based on the photos. 

432. Defendant also included costs to detach and reset the meter mast, which is 

unnecessary to complete repairs to or replacement of the roof. 

433. As to the interior, Defendant noted no damage to the attic, yet he estimated the 

replacement of all attic insulation.   

434. Furthermore, while no damage is documented in three interior rooms, Defendant 

estimated the removal and replacement of all walls, ceilings, flooring, baseboards, windows, and 

electrical outlets and switches. 

435. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

436. Defendant also included costs for an HVAC and plumbing technicians without any 

photos substantiating this expense. 

437. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 
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Robert Whitney (Claim #: HP215909) 

438. On or about September 30, 2022, Robert Whitney contacted Plaintiff to initiate a 

claim for property damage sustained at his residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 

439. On or about October 11, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

440. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $23,429.40. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

441. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

442. Defendant also intentionally estimated hundreds of additional linear feet of gutters 

above the perimeter of the home and estimated the complete replacement of all fascia, which is 

excessive based on the photos. Defendant also estimated the detachment and resetting of the meter 

mast, which is unnecessary for roof repairs or replacement. 

443. Lastly, Defendant included a cost for two dump trailers even though a job site 

container is already included. Moreover, this would be a mitigation expense that should not be 

included in any estimate.  

Ellen Keller (Claim #: HP215909) 

444. On or about September 30, 2022, Ellen Keller contacted Plaintiff to initiate a claim 

for property damage sustained at her residence in Venice, Florida, following Hurricane Ian. 
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445. On or about October 10, 2022, Defendant visited the residence to conduct an 

inspection on behalf of Plaintiff. 

446. Following his inspection, Defendant intentionally overestimated the property 

damage from Hurricane Ian at $30,941.42. Defendant’s estimate is replete with intentional falsities 

and omissions, as discussed below. 

447. Despite the residence being in Venice, Florida (Sarasota County), Defendant 

intentionally changed the pricing to reflect the increased costs in Lee County where Hurricane Ian 

made landfall. By increasing the price of materials and labor, Defendant inflated the costs in his 

estimate. 

448. Despite photos showing isolated water damage to the living room ceiling, 

Defendant estimated the removal and replacement of all walls, ceilings, flooring, baseboards, 

windows, and electrical outlets and switches in rooms throughout the residence.  

449. Even without photos of damage to windowsills, Defendant included in his estimate 

replacement rather than repair and included excess materials by ordering, for instance, countertops 

instead of windowsills. Moreover, he knew or should have known that the windowsill was marble, 

but he upgraded the material to granite without justification. 

450. Lastly, Defendant included unsupported costs for air movers and dehumidifiers 

although Defendant knew or should have known that these costs are typically expensed to 

remediation companies who then submit their claim to Plaintiff. 

E. When Defendant did not receive his expected compensation, he went to the press and 
accused Plaintiff of fraud. 
 
451. Defendant’s own fraudulent misconduct caused the drastic discrepancies between 

his estimates and the settled claim amounts as detailed above. Yet, Defendant, dissatisfied with his 

compensation, went to the press with fraud allegations against Plaintiff.  

4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 65



66 
 

i. The Washington Post 

452. On March 11, 2023, The Washington Post published an article by Brianna Sacks, 

entitled “Insurers slashed Hurricane Ian payouts far below damage estimates, documents and 

insiders reveal” based on Defendant’s wrongful allegations. The subheading states, “A 

Washington Post investigation has found that some policyholders had their claims cut by more 

than 80 percent.” A copy of the article is attached as Exhibit B. 

453. Defendant is identified in the very first sentence as an adjuster. While one other 

insurance company is referenced by name, the focus of the article is on Plaintiff – referenced by 

name eighteen times. The article relays, “Five days after Ian ripped across Florida, Lee received 

an email from a Tristar claims manager he’d worked with in the past. The company was looking 

for ‘experienced adjusters for our client Heritage Property and Casualty,’ and promised good pay 

and ‘all the volume one could ever hope for.’” Id. 

454. Largely through the lens of Defendant, the article accuses insurance companies, 

and specifically Plaintiff, of attempting to “devalue damage” and, according to a representative 

from the American Policyholder Association, engaging in “systematic criminal fraud perpetrated 

to cheat policyholders out of fair insurance claims” because “[c]utting a valid claim estimate 

without factual basis ‘is potential fraud.’” See id. The Washington Post purportedly reviewed 

thirteen claims and concluded that virtually all were reduced by 45 to 97 percent. 

455. More specifically, the article covers two homeowners insured by Plaintiff who 

believed their claims were improperly reduced by Plaintiff. One of the homeowners accused 

Plaintiff of “‘lying’” and “‘ruining people’s lives.’” See id. 
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456. The article reported that Defendant’s estimate for one residence reflected that “[t]he 

entire place would need to be dehumidified, the roof completely replaced, the insulation torn out 

and the tattered pool enclosure rebuilt. It would be about $200,000 to repair the damage.” See id. 

457. Yet, the article provides, “[t]he homeowners were slated to receive a total of 

$27,000. The changes were made without Lee’s knowledge or consent, he said, but his name 

was still on the final report, according to documents seen by The Washington Post.” See id. 

(Emphasis added). 

458. In the article, the reasons for reducing the estimates are entirely excluded, and 

Defendant conveniently fails to mention his own intentional fraudulent misconduct that created 

this discrepancy. For example, Defendant included replacement of the pool enclosure despite it 

being excluded under the policy. 

459. Contrary to the implication that the estimates were fraudulently reduced by 

Plaintiff, the changes made to Defendant’s estimates were necessary to accurately reflect policy 

coverage limits and actual documented damage. 

460. Further, Defendant’s statement that the changes were made without his knowledge 

or consent was patently false. The changes were made in the shared database to which Defendant 

had access. The need for changes was also conveyed by the Tristar Director of Claims who 

attempted to collaborate on Defendant’s estimates. Defendant was aware of and consented to 

Plaintiff’s final authority over its claims when he signed his contract with Tristar. 

461. Defendant also conveyed that Plaintiff “gave adjusters updated guidelines 

essentially barring them from writing claims to replace any roofs.” See id. (Emphasis added). 

462. However, this statement is false because Plaintiff did not “bar” independent 

adjusters from proposing a roof replacement in an estimate. Rather, Plaintiff implemented a 
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protocol for certain roofs before ordering a full replacement, which first required an inspection by 

an engineer. Defendant failed to provide this information. 

463. The article quotes Defendant as follows:  

“I wrote 44 reports for Heritage Property & Casualty, and 100 
percent of them were altered to where I did not recognize them. 
Every single one,” Lee said in an interview. “They manipulated 
our estimates without actually collaborating. I didn’t get a 
phone call from someone saying, ‘Hey, Jordan, can we go over 
this estimate?’ I didn’t get a text. I didn’t get an email. Nothing. 
I can get in trouble for that. It’s my name going on these reports, no 
one else’s.”   
 

Id. (Emphasis added). 

464. These statements are also false. Defendant did get texts from Tristar and 

communicated with Tristar on the phone. And when he was asked to collaborate and correct his 

deliberate mistakes, he refused. Moreover, Defendant’s assertion that his reports were “altered” 

wrongfully implies that Plaintiff engaged in fraudulent misconduct. 

465. Defendant’s three false statements in bold above are collectively referred to as the 

“Washington Post Defamatory Statements.” 

466. The article also recounts how Defendant addressed his concerns with the Florida 

Legislature. In doing so, it relayed Defendant’s recollection of a representative saying, “‘If this is 

really happening, this needs to be taken care of.’”   

467. Another adjuster who also addressed the Florida Legislature purportedly emailed 

evidence to the representative. Yet, the representative told The Washington Post that the adjusters 

came to his office with no evidence. After multiple emails from The Washington Post, the 

representative forwarded the adjuster’s email to the state’s chief financial officer. 

468. Immediately after this article was published, Plaintiff’s market capitalization 

dropped by $8,178,800.32. 
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469. Even after making his false allegations to the Florida Legislature and The 

Washington Post, Defendant continued publicly making false statements about Plaintiff. 

ii. Wesh 2 News 
 
470. In or around June of 2024, Defendant was video interviewed by Wesh 2 News, an 

Orlando, Florida, National Broadcasting Company affiliate. A copy of the article is attached as 

Exhibit C. 

471. Defendant was introduced as an independent adjuster who had leveled fraud 

allegations against insurance companies. Plaintiff is the only insurance company mentioned by 

name. 

472. During the interview, Defendant shared that the Department of Financial Services 

investigators had stopped talking to him. 

473. But according to the Defendant, he did not want to see the matter “‘get swept under 

the rug,’” so he continued to publicly make false allegations. See id. 

474. Defendant is quoted stating, “‘It’s been six months since I called them,’ he said. 

‘No callback. It’s not doing their due diligence to properly investigate.’” Id. (Emphasis added). 

And when asked if he believed someone should be arrested at the conclusion of the investigation, 

Defendant responded, “‘I do.’” Id. (Emphasis added). 

475. Defendant’s statements imply that a proper investigation should result in the arrest 

of Plaintiff’s representative(s). 

476. Defendant’s two false statements in bold above, collectively referred to as the 

“Wesh 2 Defamatory Statements,” are false because they imply that Plaintiff, the only named 

insured in the article, should be investigated, and its representative(s) should be arrested when the 
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truth is that Defendant’s own intentional misconduct resulted in the decrease of the final claim 

amounts. 

iii. 60 Minutes 

477. Defendant’s false statements culminated in an interview on a CBS News 60 

Minutes episode where most of the reporting focused solely on Plaintiff. A copy of the article with 

a transcript of the aired segment is attached as Exhibit D. 

478. Specifically, on September 29, 2024, Defendant appeared in a 60 Minutes segment 

about Plaintiff titled, “Whistleblowers claim insurance companies shortchanged some Florida 

homeowners after Hurricane Ian.” 

479. The introduction explained that independent adjuster “whistleblowers” reported 

that insurance companies were “using altered damage reports to deceive customers” who 

submitted Hurricane Ian claims. 

480. The segment was primarily recounted through the personal story of Virginia and 

Jeff Rapkin whose home was insured by Plaintiff and inspected by Defendant after Hurricane Ian. 

The homeowners relayed that Defendant told them that their house would probably need to be 

completely rebuilt. 

481. Defendant’s thick stack of papers replete with fraud and Plaintiff’s visibly thinner 

stack of corrected papers were shown. Defendant described the final product as “[t]otally 

different.” However, Defendant failed to mention why. The implication was that Plaintiff 

fraudulently devalued the claim. 

482. Defendant again falsely stated that “[n]obody told [him]” about the changes to 

his report. (Emphasis added). 
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483. When the reporter suggested that the variation between the amount in Defendant’s 

estimate and the total paid to the homeowner is “not a difference of opinion,” he firmly stated, 

“No,” insinuating instead that Plaintiff fraudulently altered the estimates. Defendant continued to 

imply that Plaintiff committed fraud on this claim and others. Defendant relayed that virtually all 

his estimates for Plaintiff were altered downward without providing the true reason.  

484. Defendant’s three false statements in bold above are collectively referred to as the 

“60 Minutes Defamatory Statements.” 

485. Throughout the segment, insurance carriers were accused of “systematic criminal 

fraud,” “insurance fraud,” “illegal” practice, a “deliberate scheme,” and a “con.”  

486. Defendant’s own attorney declared, “if you really want to see change in the 

industry, put somebody in handcuffs.” 

487. Plaintiff was the only insurance company mentioned by name during the entire 

episode. 

488. Thus, Defendant’s statements imply within the 60 Minutes segment that Plaintiff 

should be the one in handcuffs. 

489. Immediately after this 60 Minutes episode aired, Plaintiff’s market capitalization 

dropped by $100,337,327.46.   

490. Because of Defendant’s false and defamatory statements, Plaintiff has suffered 

reputational harm, which necessitated hiring public relations experts and attorneys to protect its 

reputation. Plaintiff has suffered both general and special damages. 

491. Defendant’s Washington Post Defamatory Statements, Wesh 2 News Defamatory 

Statements, and 60 Minutes Defamatory Statements are collectively referred to as the “Defamatory 

Statements.” 
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492. Plaintiff has retained Greenberg Traurig, P.A. and has agreed to pay such firm 

reasonable attorney’s fees. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I – FRAUD 

493. Plaintiff incorporates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 492 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

494. This is an action for fraud. 

495. Defendant made false statements of material fact in each of his forty-two estimate 

reports as detailed above. 

496. Defendant, among other things, intentionally included in his estimates without 

justification: 

a. unnecessary roof replacements instead of repairs; 

b. complete replacement of interior rooms instead of repairs; 

c. damages outside the scope of coverage; 

d. mitigation costs that should not be in any estimate; 

e. skilled labor instead of unskilled labor; 

f. excessive materials; 

g. upgraded materials; and 

h. unnecessary technicians.  

497. In addition, Defendant also deliberately altered the zip code for virtually all his 

estimates to further increase pricing. 

498. Defendant knew or should have known that these false statements of material fact 

were false. 
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499. Defendant intended to induce Tristar and Plaintiff to act on his fraud by processing 

claims based on his inflated estimate amounts. 

500. Plaintiff justifiably relied on Defendant’s fraud to assess homeowners’ claims. 

501. As a result, Plaintiff suffered damages, including, but not limited to, costs incurred 

from investigation into and response to Defendant’s fraud. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for damages, including 

general and special damages, in an amount to be determined at trial, prejudgment and post-

judgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and all other relief that the Court deems 

just and proper. Plaintiff reserves the right to seek punitive damages. 

COUNT II – CONSTRUCTIVE FRAUD 

502. Plaintiff incorporates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 492 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

503. A confidential relationship existed between Plaintiff and Defendant as principal and 

agent. 

504. Defendant abused this confidential relationship by making false statements of 

material fact in each of his forty-two estimate reports. 

505. Defendant, among other things, intentionally included in his estimates without 

justification: 

a. unnecessary roof replacements instead of repairs; 

b. room reconstruction instead of repairs; 

c. damages outside the scope of coverage; 

d. mitigation costs that should not be in any estimate; 

e. skilled labor instead of unskilled labor; 
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f. excessive materials; 

g. upgraded materials; and 

h. unnecessary technicians.  

506. In addition, Defendant also deliberately altered the zip code for virtually all his 

estimates to further increase pricing. 

507. Defendant knew or should have known that these false statements of material fact 

were false. 

508. Defendant intended for Tristar and Plaintiff to act on his fraud by processing claims 

based on his inflated estimate amounts. 

509. Plaintiff justifiably relied on Defendant’s fraud to assess homeowners’ claims. 

510. As a result, Plaintiff suffered damages, including, but not limited to, costs incurred 

from investigation into and response to Defendant’s fraud. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for damages, including 

general and special damages, in an amount to be determined at trial, prejudgment and post-

judgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and all other relief that the Court deems 

just and proper. Plaintiff reserves the right to seek punitive damages. 

COUNT III – FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION 

511. Plaintiff incorporates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 492 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

512. Defendant made false statements of material fact in each of his forty-two estimate 

reports. 

513. Defendant, among other things, intentionally included in his estimates without 

justification: 
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i. unnecessary roof replacements instead of repairs; 

j. room reconstruction instead of repairs; 

k. damages outside the scope of coverage; 

l. mitigation costs that should not be in any estimate; 

m. skilled labor instead of unskilled labor; 

n. excessive materials; 

o. upgraded materials; and 

p. unnecessary technicians.  

514. In addition, Defendant also deliberately altered the zip code for virtually all his 

estimates to further increase pricing. 

515. Defendant knew or should have known that these false statements of material fact 

were false. 

516. Defendant intended for Tristar and Plaintiff to act on his fraud by processing claims 

based on his inflated estimate amounts. 

517. Plaintiff justifiably relied on Defendant’s fraud to assess homeowners’ claims. 

518. As a result, Plaintiff suffered damages, including, but not limited to, costs incurred 

from investigation into and response to Defendant’s fraud. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for damages, including 

general and special damages, in an amount to be determined at trial, prejudgment and post-

judgment interest, legal expenses and reasonable attorneys’ fees, and all other relief that the Court 

deems just and proper. Plaintiff reserves the right to seek punitive damages. 
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COUNT IV – TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE 

519. Plaintiff incorporates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 492 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

520. Plaintiff maintains a business relationship with each of its policyholders as 

evidenced by their insurance policies, which are legal contracts. 

521. Defendant has knowledge of the relationship between Plaintiff and its 

policyholders. 

522. In committing fraud, Defendant has intentionally and unjustifiably interfered with 

the relationship between Plaintiff and its policyholders. 

523. Defendant has disrupted Plaintiff’s relationship with its policyholders. 

524. Plaintiff suffered damages, including costs incurred from investigation into and 

response to Defendant’s fraud. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for damages, including 

general and special damages, in an amount to be determined at trial, prejudgment and post-

judgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and all other relief that the Court deems 

just and proper. Plaintiff reserves the right to seek punitive damages. 

COUNT V – DEFAMATION 

525. Plaintiff incorporates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 492 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

526. Defendant’s Defamatory Statements were false. 

527. Defendant knew that the Defamatory Statements were false at the time they were 

made. At the very least, Defendant made the Defamatory Statements with reckless disregard of 

whether or not the Defamatory Statements were true. Defendant made the Defamatory Statements 
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with the primary motive to injure Plaintiff after he was caught committing fraud and did not receive 

the compensation he desired. Thus, Plaintiff made the Defamatory Statements with actual and 

express malice. 

528. Defendant published and caused to be published the Defamatory Statements about 

Plaintiff’s business by providing these statements to third-party news outlets, which then published 

Defendant’s Defamatory Statements to the public. These sources remain available for public 

viewing. 

529. Defendant’s Defamatory Statements accuse Plaintiff of criminal activity and 

impute conduct, characteristics, and conditions incompatible with the proper exercise of Plaintiffs’ 

lawful business, trade, and/or profession in the insurance industry. 

530. Because of Defendant’s Defamatory Statements, Plaintiff suffered reputational 

harm reflected in the decline in Plaintiff’s market capitalization, and special damages including 

loss of existing and future customers and business opportunities, public relations and legal 

expenses, and other monetary damages. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for damages, including 

general and special damages specifically pleaded above, in an amount to be determined at trial, 

prejudgment and post-judgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and all other relief 

that the Court deems just and proper. Plaintiff reserves the right to seek punitive damages. 

COUNT VI – DEFAMATION BY IMPLICATION 

531. Plaintiff incorporates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 492 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

532. Defendant’s Defamatory Statements were either false or create a false implication. 
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533. Defendant knew that the Defamatory Statements were false or would create a false 

implication at the time they were made. At the very least, Defendant made the Defamatory 

Statements with reckless disregard of whether or not the Defamatory Statements were true or 

whether they would create a false implication. Defendant made the Defamatory Statements with 

the primary motive to injure Plaintiff after he was caught committing fraud and did not receive the 

compensation he desired. Thus, Plaintiff made the Defamatory Statements with actual and express 

malice. 

534. Defendant published and caused to be published the Defamatory Statements about 

Plaintiff’s business by providing such statements to third-party news outlets, which then published 

Defendant’s Defamatory Statements to the public. These sources remain available for public 

viewing. 

535. These statements were directly defamatory to Plaintiff’s business, which is to 

provide financial protection against loss for its insured. Defendant’s accusations that Plaintiff is 

manipulating claims to avoid paying its insured is directly averse to its business in the insurance 

industry. As such, Defendant’s Defamatory Statements harm Defendant’s goodwill and reputation. 

536. The juxtaposition of Defendant’s Defamatory Statements creates a false 

implication that Plaintiff was engaging in fraudulent and criminal behavior by adjusting 

Defendant’s estimates, rather than adjusting the estimates based on documented damage and 

proper pricing. Defendant not only made false statements, but he also omits the truth.  

537. Defendant published the Defamatory Statements with malice, seeking to injure 

Plaintiff after he was caught committing fraud and did not receive the compensation he desired. 

At the very least, Defendant published the statements with reckless disregard of whether the 

statements were false. 
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538. Because of Defendant’s Defamatory Statements, Plaintiff suffered reputational 

harm reflected in the decline in Plaintiff’s market capitalization, and special damages including 

loss of existing and future customers and business opportunities, public relations and legal 

expenses, and other monetary damages. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for damages, including 

general and special damages, in an amount to be determined at trial, prejudgment and post-

judgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and all other relief that the Court deems 

just and proper. Plaintiff reserves the right to seek punitive damages. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all issues so triable. 

Respectfully submitted this 10th day of April 2025. 

 
/s/ Richard C. McCrea, Jr.    
Richard C. McCrea, Jr. 
Florida Bar No. 351539 
Jordan L. Behlman   
Florida Bar No.  111359 
Kayli Smendec  
Florida Bar No. 1018202 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.A. 
101 E. Kennedy Blvd., Ste. 1900 
Tampa, Florida 33602 
Telephone:  (813) 318-5700 
Facsimile:  (813) 318-5900 
mccrear@gtlaw.com  
Jordan.Behlman@gtlaw.com 
smendeck@gtlaw.com 
 
Counsel for Heritage Property & Casualty 
Insurance Company 

4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 79

mailto:mccrear@gtlaw.com
mailto:Jordan.Behlman@gtlaw.com
mailto:smendeck@gtlaw.com


4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 80



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 81



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 82



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 83



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 84



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 85



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 86



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 87



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 88



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 89



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 90



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 91



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 92



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 93



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 94



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 95



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 96



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 97



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 98



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 99



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 100



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 101



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 102



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 103



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 104



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 105



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 106



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 107



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 108



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 109



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 110



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 111



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 112



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 113



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 114



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 115



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 116



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 117



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 118



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 119



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 120



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 121



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 122



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 123



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 124



4/10/2025 4:13 PM Electronically Filed: Hillsborough County/13th Judicial Circuit Page 125


